
SCRUTINY : 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 
MEETING

2.30 pm MONDAY, 4TH JULY, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
as it will only be used for training purposes by the

Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering 
the Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public 

are consenting to being filmed.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members of the Committee are reminded of their 
personal responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct.   
In addition, Members must declare any prohibited 
party whip which the Member has been given in 
relation to the meeting as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011.   

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 

3. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
7  - A Sustainable Environment 
See attached report (Pages 1 - 12)

4. Scrutiny Report - Overcoming the Blight of Fly-
tipping and Litter in the County Borough 
The Chair presented the attached scrutiny report 
to Cabinet on 29th June 2016. An update on 
Cabinets response to the report and its 
recommendations will be provided. 

(Pages 13 - 28)

5. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive any referrals from the other Scrutiny 
Committees and Audit Committee; an update from 
the Chair on their attendance at the Service 
Performance Challenge Meetings and to consider 
any follow up actions from the previous 
Meeting(s).



6. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair.

7. Forward Work Programme 
See attached report. (Pages 29 - 40)

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor D Roberts (Chair)

Councillors: L E Smart, H Barrett, J McCarthy, S Slater, 
W R Smith and Raymond Thomas

Co-optee(s): R Holdaway and N Mahoney

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Priority Area 7 A Sustainable Environment

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory because of the significance that 

waste management practices play on the success of the outcome.  The local authority 
has been unable to achieve the national waste recycling targets since 2003 and 
frequently ranked lowest in Wales for recycling rates.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2015), outcomes remain unsatisfactory because the provisional data 
for recycling rates in each quarter indicates that we are below the 58 percent national 
target.

1.3. Our ambition is to achieve improvement in line with the national waste reduction 
targets and maintain a clean and tidy Merthyr Tydfil.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

2.2. Feedback and comments on the new Scrutiny Performance Report template are 
provided on the day

Date Written 10 June 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 04 July 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

Corporate Plan - A sustainable environment
3.3. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority area A 

Sustainable Environment.  This priority area seeks to prioritise effort within the wide 
range of activities to have a strategic focus on waste management and cleanliness 
activities to achieve the outcome:

a) People in Merthyr Tydfil will live in communities that are sustainable, clean, 
and energy efficient

4. WHERE WE WERE

A Sustainable Environment
4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory because of the significance that waste 

management practices play on the success of the outcome.  The local authority has 
been unable to achieve the national waste recycling targets since 2003 and frequently 
ranked lowest in Wales for recycling rates.

Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted 49.1 % 52.3 %
Municipal waste sent to landfill 49.5 % 41.0 %
Cleanliness Index 65.5 67.6
Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 92.3 % 92.2 %
Empty homes returned to occupation 4.28 % 5.11 %
Highway cleanliness 96.0 % 95.8 %
Energy consumption from Street Lighting 3.74 GWh n/a

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Page 2



A Sustainable Environment
5.1. By 2017, we want to achieve improvement in line with the national waste reduction 

targets and maintain a clean and tidy Merthyr Tydfil.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted 58.0 % 60.0 %
Municipal waste sent to landfill 35.0 % 30.0 %
Cleanliness Index 71.9 72.1
Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 100 % 100 %
Empty homes returned to occupation 5.50 % 6.00 %
Highway cleanliness 100 % 100 %
Energy consumption from Street Lighting 1.50 1.00

6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

A Sustainable Environment
6.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes remain unsatisfactory because the provisional data for 

recycling rates in each quarter indicates that we are below the 58 percent national 
target.

6.2. There have been improvements to the cleanliness of the environment (cleanliness index 
and highways cleanliness) and fly tipping clearances.  In addition, we brought an 
increasing proportion of empty homes into use during the year.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2016
Wales

Municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted
Municipal waste sent to landfill
Cleanliness Index 67.5 68.4
Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 94.7 %
Empty homes returned to occupation 6.47 %
Highway cleanliness 98.1 %
Energy consumption from Street Lighting 1.38 GWh n/a

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Page 3



Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Street Lightning Renewal Project
7.2. Waste Management Collaboration Project
7.3. Riverside Project

Initiatives completed
7.4. Street Lightning Renewal Project

Lessons learnt
7.5. Following a Wale Audit Office (WAO) performance assessment of waste services, they 

identify that the local authority is making progress on our planned improvements in 
waste services.

7.6. As part of the review, the WAO made the proposal for improvement, to improve the 
availability and reliability of performance data in order to understand the story behind 
performance and to enable timely interventions to improve performance.

7.7. The proposal for improvement arisen from waste services identifying the need to 
improve the timeliness and reliability of its internal data.  The learning was from the 
action taken to put in place a recovery plan to take additional action to help it achieve 
the statuary recycling target of 58 per cent.  The recovery plan was not in place until 
January 2016.  If we had access to more timely data, we could have taken earlier 
intervention activity to improve its performance.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Reduce the level and impact of fly-tipping

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Neighbourhood Services are contributing to the production of the wellbeing assessment 

for the WFG Act.  The wellbeing assessment will inform the new strategy for a 

Page 4



Sustainable Environment, which will centre on the seven wellbeing goals and the five 
ways of working. 

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER: NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
PORTFOLIO: NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 5



Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 49.1 48.2 51.2

Wales 52.3 54.3 56.2

(-3.2) (-6.1) (-5.0) () ()

TITLE The percentage of municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2014/15 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2015/16 2015/16

MT 51.2 57.1 (p) 55.6 (p) 51.2 (p)

Wales 56.2 59.1 (p) 59.8 (p) 58.0 (p)

(-5.0) (-2.0) (-4.2) (-6.8) () ()

(p) The data item is provisional

TITLE The percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 49.5 50.1 36.8

Wales 41.0 37.7 29.4

(8.5) (12.4) (7.4) () ()

TITLE The average score for the Cleanliness Index

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 65.5 67.7 67.5 67.5

Wales 67.6 68.7 67.9 68.4

(52) (46) (42) () ()

Page 6



TITLE The percentage of reported fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 92.3 95.7 92.4 94.7

Wales 92.2 95.0 93.1

(0.1) (0.7) (-0.7) () ()

TITLE The percentage of private sector dwellings that had been vacant for more than 6 
months at 1 April that were returned to occupation during the year

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 4.28 5.15 5.53 6.47

Wales 5.11 9.23 11.76

(-0.83) (-4.08) (-6.23) () ()

TITLE The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of 
cleanliness

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 96.0 95.4 92.9 98.1

Wales 95.8 97.5 96.9

(0.2) (-2.1) (-4.0) () ()

TITLE The energy consumption from Street Lighting (GWh)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 3.74 3.74 3.45 1.38 1.00 -

Wales - - - - - -

() () () () ()

Page 7



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Street Lighting Renewal 6.1

Waste Management Project 6.2

Riverside Project 6.3

Fly-Tipping Project 8.1

Page 8



Back

PROJECT (A) Street lighting renewal project

PROJECT MANAGER Street Lighting Officer

DESCRIPTION Merthyr Tydfil County Borough maintains 7,238 streetlights, the majority 
of which are high-pressure sodium (SON) units, which provide a 
white/peach coloured light output.  The lanterns are approximately 15 
years old and approaching the end of their design and working life.  In 
the financial year 2012/13 the electrical energy cost required to run the 
street lighting system was £400,250, and with the probability of 
increases in electricity tariffs, this cost is likely to rise and place an 
additional burden on the council's street lighting budget in future years.  
The likely increase in energy costs will have an adverse effect on our 
ability to maintain the existing street lighting service to its current 
operating regime.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Installing new energy efficient LED lanterns can save up to 73 per cent 
of energy demand.

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

The project is now complete with all streetlights now upgraded to the 
new LED lanterns.  Energy consumption has reduced significantly, and 
by association, we expect our impact on the environment from energy 
consumption and carbon emissions will now reduce.

Page 9



Back

PROJECT (B) Waste Management Collaboration Project

PROJECT MANAGER Waste Strategy Officer

DESCRIPTION This project will deliver the long-term Waste Management Business 
Plan, which sets out the changes to the council's waste and recycling 
services, up to 2025.
This continues the work of the Waste Management Collaboration 
Project to implement the Waste Strategy to create greater opportunity to 
recycle household waste products in Merthyr Tydfil.  The next steps in 
this project are to:
 Divert residual waste to energy from waste treatment
 Reduce the amount of side waste being presented for collection by 

householders
 Review and implement changes to bulky household waste 

collections
 Deliver ongoing waste prevention marketing and behaviour change 

campaigns
 Improve the quality and capture of recyclable materials collected 

from kerbside collections

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reduced waste sent to landfill and increasing recycling rates towards a 
zero waste Wales

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

The local authority is making good progress delivering on our planned 
improvements in waste services.

Page 10



Back

PROJECT (C) Riverside Project

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION The Riverside Project is a composite project that consists of 
infrastructure works at Merthyr Vale and a programme of work to 
support acquisitions in Taff and Crescent Streets and works at the Civic 
Amenity Site.  The aim is to implement as much as possible of the 
residential-led, mixed use, redevelopment of the disused Merthyr Vale 
Colliery (known as Project Riverside).

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The scheme includes a primary school, which has already been built 
and is in use, together with a minimum of 230 dwellings (yet to be built) 
and ancillary land uses including a care home, retail, offices, and 
recreation areas.

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2018

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

A recent report to Cabinet provided an update to the Riverside Project, 
focusing on the sale of land for development.

Page 11



Back

PROJECT (D) Fly-Tipping

PROJECT MANAGER Waste Management Officer

DESCRIPTION In order to tackle fly-tipping crime within Merthyr Tydfil, we will:
 Create a team to focus on fly-tipping incidents on council owned 

land
 Improve partnership working with organisations to tackle fly-tipping
 Develop community groups to assist with voluntary "community 

clean ups"
 Deploy covert cameras in "hot spot" areas
 Deliver publicity campaigns to inform residents and businesses of 

legitimate ways to dispose of their waste and encouraging them to 
report fly tipping

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reduction in fly-tipping and a cleaner environment

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 08 June 2016

The service has formed a new Environmental Enforcement Team to 
deal with fly tipping offenders.  To date, the enforcement of waste 
offences has been unsatisfactory and without robust enforcement, there 
is no effective deterrent.  The service is looking to Cabinet to approve a 
Strategic Group to work together to address fly tipping and litter issues 
across Merthyr Tydfil.

Page 12



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen

Scrutiny Report - Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping 
and Litter in the County Borough 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This Authority, along with other local authorities in Wales, faces challenging Welsh 
Government and European targets to reduce the levels of waste sent to landfill and 
also increase the amount of waste recycled. Local authorities face substantial fines 
if the targets are not met. As such and in order to monitor the situation this is a 
regular item on the Committees work programme. 

1.2 An unintended consequence of the new waste collection service is an increase in 
fly tipping activity, and an increase in incidents of bags of household waste left to 
accumulate on the streets, often resulting in an increase in street litter. Inevitably 
this has led to significant public concern and an increase in complaints to the 
Authority. 

1.3 The Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee arranged a 
meeting on 11th April 2016 with various Partner Organisations, Councillors and 
Officers to discuss the fly-tipping and litter issues and to hear views on the causes 
and scale of the problems, and listen to any suggestions as to how the problem can 
be best tackled. 

1.4 A new Environmental Enforcement Team has recently been formed by the Authority 
to deal with offenders. To date the enforcement of waste offences has been 
unsatisfactory and without robust enforcement there is no effective deterrent. It is 
encouraging to see that the new Team is properly geared towards prosecution of 
offenders and to assist them a quantity of new covert cameras have been secured 
for use across the County Borough.

Date Written 2nd May 2016
Report Author Task & Finish Group - Neighbourhood 

Services and Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Service Area Scrutiny
Committee Date 29th June 2016

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



1.5 There was agreement at the meeting on 11th April that a strategic group would be 
formed to include the various Partner Organisations, Councillors and Officers to 
work together both strategically and operationally to help address the problems of 
fly-tipping and litter in the County Borough. The Committee understands that at the 
time of this report there have been two meetings of this Group.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT:-

2.1 The Authority gives consideration to seeking an options report on replacing the blue 
reusable recycling sack used for recycling plastics and cans for a more robust 
container to reduce the possibility of spillage, which is aggravating the litter problem 
in our streets. In this regard the Authority should approach WRAP Cymru which 
recommended the blue reusable recycling sack and investigate whether funding is 
available to replace the container. 

2.2 An options report be prepared for Cabinet as to whether additional resources can 
be made available to the Environmental Enforcement Team, specifically to deal with 
enforcement.

2.3 A cost benefit analysis for bulky waste items is undertaken with a view to 
significantly reducing or entirely removing the charge for this removal service.

2.4 As there are operatives at the amenity sites sorting through the waste brought in by 
residents, consideration by Cabinet be given to the Van Permit Scheme for non-
commercial waste being suspended for six months in order that a business case 
can be prepared seeking options as to withdrawing the scheme in its entirety. 

2.5 A Strategic Group is set up to include those Partners and Organisations invited to 
the scrutiny meeting who are willing to participate, to work together to address the 
fly-tipping and litter issues. The Strategic Group to include the Neighbourhood 
Services and Public Protection Cabinet Portfolio Member and the Governance and 
Corporate Services Cabinet Portfolio Member. 

2.6 Where appropriate when a person/company/organisation etc is convicted of fly-
tipping in the County Borough the Authority should publicise the results of the court 
cases, both on the website, social media and via press releases.

2.7 The Strategic Group looks at how stronger links can be made with the Registered 
Social Landlords around the prosecution of fly-tippers on RSL land.

2.8 A report is presented to the Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny 
Committee within 3 months of this report being considered by Cabinet, on the 
progress of the Strategic Group, and also on progress in dealing with the fly-tipping 
and litter issues in the County Borough.

2.9 A follow up meeting (similar to the scrutiny meeting on 11th April 2016) be 
scheduled by the Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny 
Committee on its work programme early next year.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Due to the challenging Welsh Government and European targets for local 
authorities to reduce the levels of waste sent to landfill and increase the amount of 
waste recycled, this has been an area that has been of interest to this Committee. 

Page 14



3.2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council faces significant financial penalties if 
improvements are not made in these areas, and a role for this committee is to 
provide the necessary challenge to ensure the Council meets these targets.  Failure 
to achieve the targets could result in fines of £200 per tonne for every tonne of 
waste by which the Authority fails.  Further, failure to divert waste from landfill 
attracts an additional penalty of £200 per tonne over the allowance.

3.3 In June 2015 changes were made to the waste collection system in the County 
Borough in an attempt to encourage recycling and reduce the amount of waste that 
is sent to landfill. As a result we have seen an increase in recycling and a reduction 
in the amount of waste going to landfill. 

3.4 Whilst the Authority is reducing the levels of waste sent to landfill and increasing 
the amount of waste recycled, we have seen unintended consequences of the new 
waste collection services. There has been significant impact on fly tipping activity, 
and a significant increase in incidents of bags of household waste left to 
accumulate on the streets and in people’s yards. These bags are often ripped open 
and the resultant litter becomes a problem in itself. See APPENDIX I for definitions 
for Fly-Tipping and Litter.

3.5 There is significant public concern in the County Borough about the increase in fly-
tipping and litter and it is suggested in many quarters that changes to the waste 
collection system, and cuts to the Councils budget, handed down by central 
government and Welsh Government, have adversely affected our ability to keep our 
streets and countryside clean. 

3.6 At the Committees October 2015 meeting, Members enquired about the number of 
prosecutions that had been carried out as it was felt that enforcement would be a 
major deterrent against fly-tipping. The Committee was informed that during 
2013/14 and 2014/15 there had been a number of written warnings and cautions, 
however there had been no prosecutions. The committee was informed that whilst 
many investigations are undertaken, few result in the standard of proof being 
satisfied to be able to take a case forward for prosecution. 

3.7 Also at the October meeting the Committee was made aware that a private 
enforcement company (3GS) would provide a litter and dog fouling enforcement 
service at no cost to the Authority. This was subject to a report to Cabinet1 on 21st 
October 2015. The report also highlighted information in a Keep Wales Tidy report 
which showed that litter from pedestrian sources is present on 96% of the County 
Borough’s streets; and that between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2015 the 
council received 838 street cleansing related complaints.

3.8 Due to the reasons mentioned above it was agreed that a meeting be called of 
external Partners, outside Organisations, Councillors and Officers to discuss the 
issues being faced and to listen to any ideas as to what could be done to address 
the litter and fly-tipping issues.  

4.0 MEETING ON MONDAY 11th APRIL 2016.

1 Report to Cabinet 21st October 2015 -  PILOT PROJECT FOR THE ISSUING OF FIXED PENALTY NOTICES FOR LITTER 
AND DOG FOULING OFFENCES Page 15



The Chair Councillor Darren Roberts and the Scrutiny Committee members would 
like to thank all those that attended and participated at the meeting; and also those 
that provided information to the Committee.  

4.1 A meeting was arranged to discuss the issues and hear views on the causes and 
scale of the issue, and listen to any suggestions how the problem can be best 
tackled. Rather than a lengthy investigation, one meeting was arranged to hear the 
different views on how the problem could be addressed. Those invited to the 
meeting are shown at APPENDIX I.

4.2 The key lines of enquiry included the following:-
 

 What is the local problem – why do people fly-tip and why is there a 
prevalence of litter and rubbish about our streets, estates and countryside;

 What legal responsibility does the Council have for dealing with fly tipping 
and litter/rubbish clearance;

 What legal responsibilities do landowners have and how does the Council 
ensure that they clear fly-tipping and litter/rubbish from their land;

 Who does what within the Council; 

 What effect have the 3GS litter enforcement officers had in the short time 
they have been operational; and what is their exact remit within the County 
Borough;

 What are the current systems for reporting litter and fly-tipping; how many 
reports and complaints is the Council receiving (are they increasing?), and 
what are the clearance response times;

 What is the Council doing to deter fly-tippers (including what penalties are 
imposed); 

 Are there any problems or issues with existing practices within the Council 
that exacerbate the problem;

 Which other partners/agencies/organisations are involved, and what are their 
responsibilities or roles; and what actions do they take;

 What are Councillor, Officer and Partner Agencies/Organisations’ views on 
how to tackle the issues in a sustainable way.

4.3 Fly-tipping and litter problems are not unique to the County Borough. This is a 
national problem with considerable sums of money being spent trying to address 
the problem. The meeting heard that over the past few months the Authority has 
been working with a company called 3GS as partners in litter enforcement. The 
zero tolerance approach to litter enforcement is now paying dividends in relation to 
litter reduction, especially around the town centre. 

4.4 The Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Portfolio Member, Councillor 
David Jones broke the problem down into six areas namely: - Enforcement; 
Education; General Fly-tipping; Commercial Waste; Residential Waste; and Street 
littering.

Page 16



Enforcement

4.5 An Environmental Enforcement Team has recently been put together to deal with 
offenders. Being based together will make interaction easier. The Team includes 
3GS; an Environmental Health Officer (investigations and penalties / prosecutions); 
the Waste Strategy Manager (operation of collection services); Waste Strategy 
Supervisor (day – to – day supervision of waste recycling wardens and strategy 
team; Operational Manager (for refuse, recycling, and green waste collection 
services); Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement manager (street cleansing 
and responsible for the Enforcement team)

4.6 Until now enforcement of waste offences by the Authority has not been robust 
enough. Prosecution rates are non-existent, which in itself leads people to think that 
the County Borough is a soft target. The new enforcement team will change this 
situation.

4.7 The Authority recently received funding to purchase a quantity of covert cameras 
which will be placed at known fly-tipping hotspots across the County Borough. This 
will help tackle the problem and will hopefully assist in prosecuting offenders as well 
as act as a deterrent.

4.8 3GS litter enforcement officers have issued 162 fixed penalty notices during 
February 2016, and 159 in March 2016 for littering offences across the County 
Borough, including retail parks. At present there are 3 full time Enforcement 
Officers operating in the County Borough with 3GS looking to increase the number 
up to 5. The company is continually reviewing the number of Enforcement Officers 
it uses in the County Borough.

4.9  The Waste Management Department operates an enforcement procedure for its 
“no side waste” policy, which has been in place for the last approx. 5 years.  This is 
a four-stage process. 1879 first stage (the red tag) notices were issued during 
2015/16, with 1716 for 2015/16 i.e. an increase of 163. For 2015/16, 16 fixed 
penalty notices were issued. The 4-stage process is as follows:-

Stage 1  Issuing of a red tag. You have placed waste out and we will not collect it. 
Please don’t do it again as it is an offence.

Stage 2 In a fortnights time (or at next offence), a letter will be issued telling the 
householder that the situation can’t continue and that if it happens again 
there will be legal proceedings instigated

Stage 3 The issuing of a Section 46. This is a notice instructing them how to 
store, dispose of and present their waste for collection. If this notice is 
not adhered to a fixed penalty notice a fixed penalty will be issued.

Stage 4 Issuing of a fixed penalty notice.

4.10 The Authority has no statutory duty to investigate fly-tipping incidents on private 
land, although it does have powers to do so. Merthyr Valleys Homes advised that in 
respect of fly-tipping on MVH land they would investigate and remove the waste but 
did question whether in the spirit of partnership the Authority should be prosecuting 
fly-tipping on all land whether it be MVH land, public land, or even a farmers land, in 
all our interests. Keep Wales Tidy advised that in terms of enforcement RSL’s Page 17



themselves have certain enforcement powers available to them e.g. Street Litter 
Control Notices; and Public Space Protection Orders.

4.11 Antonia Pompa (Big Heart of Merthyr Tydfil Business Improvement District) 
informed the meeting that in terms of enforcement, if you come into town on a 
Saturday or Sunday morning there is a clear issue around the evening economy 
and litter from both our public houses and takeaways. It was queried whether there 
was a plan for 3GS to do evening enforcement in the town centre. Craig Arnold 
(3GS) advised that they are able to provide that service but there is an issue 
around issuing someone who is intoxicated with a fixed penalty notice as the 
person needs to be fully compos mentis. This would be more for the police under a 
public order matter. However 3GS would be able to work with the police e.g. a joint 
operation where the police deal with the public order matter and 3GS by way of a 
fixed penalty notice, if the person is compos mentis.

4.12 Mr Tony Rees (Merthyr Tydfil Angling Association) informed the meeting that in 
their line of activity they see fly-tipping and litter in areas along the riverbanks for 
example which officers and the public would not normally see, and this is very close 
to habitation. Mr Rees offered to show these areas to officers.

4.13 Cheryllee Evans (MTCBC - Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services) advised that by 
its nature fly-tipping is a difficult crime to detect and fly-tippers often operate under 
the cover of darkness and leave little traceable evidence behind at the scene. To 
put things into context statistics show that across Wales in 2014/15 there were 
32,000 recorded fly-tipping incidents and only 105 prosecutions.

4.14 Ms Jemma Bere, the Policy and Research Manager at Keep Wales Tidy advised 
that she was in charge of the team that undertook litter surveys across Wales. 
Again to put things into perspective figures for the County Borough show that 
97.5% of the streets are above “Grade B”, which is “pretty good” i.e. the Authority is 
not at the bottom of the table, so there is a lot being done. It is a problem all local 
authories are facing. On enforcement there is the Enforcement Forum and she 
encouraged the local authority to join. Enforcement is a tool in the toolbox but it is 
not the be-all and end-all and she warned against fixating on fixed penalty notices 
as if fixed penalty notice figures are going up drastically, then that means the 
problem is going up drastically and it is not solving anything.

Keep Wales Tidy offered to work with the Council and 3GS as Keep Wales Tidy 
has a lot of data and information on commercial waste and residential waste. It 
would be a good way of approaching the issues at hand.

4.15 Councillor Brendan Toomey, the Leader of the Council, informed the meeting that 
fly-tipping and the litter problem is our collective problem and all those present are 
against a backdrop of ever diminishing resources. The Council has put significant 
resources into tackling the problems and in terms of enforcement, fixed penalty 
notices will go up initially and then there will be a significant drop off when people 
realise that there is a zero tolerance approach.

Referring to the point raised by Merthyr Valleys homes (see 4.10), the problem 
being a collective problem means there needs to be a collective solution as well. 
Officers of the Authority and Partner Organisations need to come together to find a 
collective way forward in terms of not only addressing the issues, but ensuring that 

Page 18



it is not just left to the local authority to pick up the tab for every piece of fly-tipping 
that takes place across the County Borough.

Education

4.16 Perhaps the most important challenge the Authority has is trying to change people’s 
mind-set around awareness and the need to recycle; and the waste policies that the 
Authority has in place. The Authority has had wardens and schemes in place over 
the past ten years and have used various communication methods and behavioural 
change methods to engage with the public. Significant resources have been spent 
on behavioural change campaigns as well as the employment of wardens. There 
have been numerous press releases, advertising campaigns, events and 
roadshows across the County Borough around recycling awareness-raising.

4.17 Approximately 18 months ago the Authority lost the post that liaised directly with the 
schools and provided classroom intervention. This service no longer operates, 
although the Authority is currently looking at ways that it can work with schools as 
part of the education process around recycling and landfill. In contrast Merthyr 
Valleys Homes has undertaken a number of education projects with schools in 
conjunction with Keep Wales Tidy. At the meeting there was an offer from Merthyr 
Valleys Homes’ “tidy up team” to visit schools and undertake educational events 
and MVH are more than happy to support the Council on this front.

4.18 Mr Ellis Cooper, the Corporate Director (Place and Transformation) informed the 
meeting that over the past couple of months he has been meeting on a weekly 
basis with his senior officers concerning the “war” they are fighting against fly-
tipping. Until the Authority can instil the social responsibility that we shouldn’t fly-tip 
and dispose of waste appropriately, and for businesses to have a duty of care and 
a trade waste contract in place for example, we can’t win. Our holistic plan is 
making an improvement and we are winning on certain fronts e.g. the fixed penalty 
notices which are having a direct impact on street cleansing. The issues can’t be 
solved alone and the Authority welcomes input from partner organisations as to 
what is need in addition to instil that social responsibility, which is key to education. 

4.19 During the meeting the Chair Councillor Darren Roberts challenged those present 
to come up with solutions to the fly-tipping and litter problems. Mike Owen from 
Merthyr Valleys Homes suggested a concerted approach and that a task force is 
set up to meet regularly to investigate some of the common issues and MVH are 
happy to support this. Feedback from MVH tenants is that fly-tipping and litter is at 
the top of the negative issues they face. The Cabinet Portfolio Member, Councillor 
David Jones, added that they were looking to set up a Fly-tipping working Group to 
meet monthly with all the organisations attending the meeting and hopefully all will 
participate so we can pool resources and get the best outcome for the whole 
County Borough.

General Fly-tipping

4.20 Once a complaint has been received by the Council it is placed on a reporting 
system. Work sheets for each case are printed out and given to the teams that will 
visit the problem. They will look to find any evidence which shows who the waste 
belongs to. Any evidence is then brought back to the Environmental Health Officer 
in the Environmental Enforcement Team who deals with the investigations.    

Page 19



4.21 The person who the fly-tipping is believed to belong to is invited to an interview 
under caution. If they fail to attend they will receive a second request to attend an 
interview. If the person again fails to attend the case will be put forward for 
prosecution, depending on the strength of the case. If the person does attend the 
interview, evidence will be put to them, and again depending on the strength of the 
evidence, the case will be put forward for prosecution. From the time the evidence 
is provided to the Environmental Health Officer the case will take at least a couple 
of months before it is scheduled for court.

4.22 Since 8th February 2016 (the set up date for the Environmental Enforcement Team) 
up until 8th April 2016, 101 cases have been submitted to the Environmental Health 
Officer for investigation.  However some of these cases have more than one 
evidence trail i.e. it may relate to more than one case of fly-tipping. As at 11th April, 
twelve interviews had been scheduled, of which seven people have attended and 
been interviewed. Twenty five interviews are currently being arranged. Three 
prosecutions are currently progressing. 

4.23 It was evident from the information provided by the Environmental Health Officer 
that although much work is being done to identify and interview suspects, the 
number of fly-tipping cases being reported outweighs the number that are being 
investigated, and as a result the Authority is still “playing catch up”. In terms of fly-
tipping and litter complaints there have been 993 complaints during 2014/15; 1910 
during 2015/16 and 450 in the last 2 months (annualised to 2700). These figures 
show a huge rise increase in complaints year on year.

4.24 A “realistic prospect of conviction” is the test the Authority uses when considering 
taking forward a prosecution. For example a name and address on an envelope 
amongst the fly-tip may be sufficient to take forward the matter, however the 
stronger the evidence the better the prospect of a successful prosecution. The 
Interview under Caution may also provide further evidence.

4.25 Merthyr Tydfil Angling Association mentioned the number of supermarket trolleys 
they come across during their activities and queried whether in numbers this would 
be categorised as fly-tipping. Examples given were Penywern Ponds where there 
are a number of abandoned trolleys, at Caeracca there were about 40 abandoned 
trolleys, and at least half a dozen near the Car Auction site in Dowlais. It was 
confirmed that this would be classified as fly-tipping and that the Authority will 
explore with the appropriate parties and supermarkets the best way to deal with the 
issue.

4.26 Mr Mark Williams from the South Wales Fire and Rescue Service informed the 
meeting that fly-tipping is a massive problem for the Service and they work closely 
with organisations such as Fly Tipping Wales. During the last six months in Merthyr 
Tydfil they have received between 12-13 calls per month on fly-tipping and waste 
fires, and when this is multiplied across the ten Unitary Authorities they serve, it is a 
massive resource drain on them. The Fire Service is willing to work with any 
organisation that will help tackle the fly-tipping issue.

Commercial Waste

4.27 Commercial waste includes builders waste and rubble; domestic appliances; tyres; 
beds; mattresses; car parts; large amounts of cans and bottles; and other large 
items. Page 20



4.28 Waste from trade premises is not allowed to be brought onto the two civic amenity 
sites in the County Borough. As the sites are not licensed to accept trade waste, it 
is illegal to deposit trade waste at the site and traders are refused entry. 

4.29 The Authority has recently undertaken an audit in the town centre with business to 
ensure that they have all the correct procedures in place for waste disposal. Within 
the Enforcement team there is a Trade Waste Officer who meets with businesses 
and explains that the businesses have a duty of care in terms of their waste. 
Checks are currently taking place to ensure that businesses have appropriate trade 
waste licences. At present there are a few responses outstanding and these are 
being followed up on. In respect of those businesses that do not have the correct 
requirements, enforcement will be the next stage. It is intended that as a result of 
this exercise the area will see less litter and waste about the place.    

4.30 Rhian Prosser, the Town Centre Manager advised that there is an issue with 
storage of commercial waste in the town centre where sometimes storage is not 
locked. This sometimes results in some people rummaging through the commercial 
waste, resulting in fly-tipping around the town centre. In addition it is an old town 
centre and not everyone has facilities on site to store waste.

4.31 Mike Owen (MVH) commented that a cause of a lot of the problem is not the 
legitimate trading operations but more so the illegal commercial operations who are 
offering to clear household waste but then just fly-tip rather than dispose of the 
waste legally and properly. The Authority does not have any prosecutions on going 
around this problem, but is aware of the problem.

Residential Waste / Littering

4.32 Currently approximately 73% of households across the County Borough participate 
in recycling. However this means that 27% or so of households do not participate 
and as such the Authority still needs to encourage those households that don’t 
recycle to participate.

4.33 The Waste Strategy Manager, Val Steele, said there is evidence that says that by 
reducing the capacity for residual waste this encourages people to recycle. As a 
result the 140 litre bin was introduced and evidence from monitoring exercises 
undertaken since their introduction shows that this is indeed the case.

4.34 There has been a change to the recycling service from co-mingled to a multi-stream 
collection. The meeting was informed that the presentation of recycling is far better 
now that how it was previously.

4.35 The Authority has a “no side waste” policy. Side waste is where black bags of 
waste are placed with a residents wheelie bin or recycling outside their house. 
These are subject to red tags as residents are not disposing of their waste 
correctly. The intention of the recycling wardens when “red tagging” the black bag 
side waste and not collecting them is that the resident will put the waste in the 
correct receptacle. It is an education process. The Authority has issued 1879 red 
tags for side waste. Putting this into perspective this equates to 6.7% of the 28,000 
properties in the County Borough.  

Page 21



4.36 However a problem is that the bags that are “red-tagged” are not removed 
immediately but rather left in situ and the wardens try to interact with the 
householder in an attempt to sort the problem bag(s) out. An unfortunate and 
unsatisfactory result of this is that the bag or bags are left in the street for weeks in 
some cases, and often they are broken open by animals for example, allowing the 
contents to be strewn about, adding to the litter problem.

4.37 Many residents are taking waste direct to the civic amenity sites and there have 
been complaints about the way that their waste is handled there. At the civic 
amenity sites residents are able to dispose of small amounts of non-recyclable 
waste.  As far as practicable any recyclables must be separated and placed in the 
appropriate container for recycling. Members of the public may be asked to 
separate their waste into the appropriate containers, and this may include opening 
any bagged waste for inspection and further sorting. 

Waste brought into a civic amenity site in a van or trailer must apply for a permit 
and bring this with them to the site. The permit scheme is intended to stop the 
illegal or unfair use of the sites for the disposal of waste.

The Authority introduced black bag separation at the sites to give a consistent 
message that residents can’t just take their rubbish to these sites for disposal 
unless they have sorted the waste correctly. The operation of the Civic Amenity 
sites will be reviewed in the very near future and residents’ concerns will be taken 
into account.

4.38 Since last December there have been wardens at the civic amenity sites to help 
residents and ensure they are approached in an appropriate manner and this 
seems to have had a positive impact. Until February this year the recycling target 
rates at the Aberfan and Dowlais Amenity sites had not been achieved. Both sites 
are now achieving above 90% recycling rates, and this is a direct result of the bag-
splitting when the resident brings their waste to the site. 

4.39 The blue reusable recycling sack now being used by householders for weekly 
plastic and cans recycling is not entirely suitable as it allows the contents to spill out 
especially in windy conditions. It is suggested that some of the street litter is as a 
direct result of the failings of the bag, and that a more robust type of container is 
required. 

4.40 In order to target the 27% of householders that do not engage in recycling the 
Authority has almost exhausted all attempts to educate and work with residents to  
recycle, and will now be looking at enforcement.  However Wardens will still be out 
at every collection monitoring the situation, also focussing on the no side waste 
policy. 

4.41 Merthyr Valleys Homes advised that they have “skip days” at their various estates, 
however there is no recycling in the skips as all waste and materials are just thrown 
in. The RSL itself pays for disposal. Getting rid of bulky items is very difficult and 
expensive to many, and this contributes partly to the fly-tipping problem. The RSL 
finds that some residents stack waste and bulky items in their gardens and it is 
easier and more cost effective to provide the skips, than to take any punitive action. 

Page 22



An example was given of a tenant who refused to put their rubbish out, choosing 
instead to burn it. It took at least 3 years and £15,000 in costs to eventually evict 
the tenant. Sometimes offering something like skip days is an easier solution than 
forcing everyone to comply with your waste policies as you will never get 100% 
participation. As such consideration should be given to offering something for those 
that are never going to participate, such as the use of skips.

4.42 The Chief Executive of MTCBC, Gareth Chapman, commented that all the 
organisations and partners in attendance are working in environments where 
finances are dwindling. The session had been very valuable and he hoped that the 
task team as suggested would be established as a number of suggestions had 
been put forward for closer working. Also there may be areas where there is 
duplication of work amongst all the organisations present.

Recycling targets for this authority need to be met as if they are’t then fines may be 
imposed by the Welsh Government.  If the Authority has to pay the fines, it will in 
turn reduce other services the Authority provides. 

People need to report litter incidents to the local authority so that the offenders can 
be prosecuted. One of the problems the Authority faces in overcoming fly-tipping is 
that people won’t report incidents in case they have to go to court, and as such they 
don’t want to get involved.

With the introduction of the covert cameras the Authority will be able to obtain the 
necessary evidence and the vehicle registration number details and take 
appropriate action. If the Authority has to enforce that will be the last resort, so if we 
can instead educate people including our youngsters, and get a consistent 
message out collectively then hopefully that will have a big impact.

In respect of food waste and the charging for bags, when the Authority previously 
charged for bags the recycle rate for food was 35%, and when the charge was 
withdrawn the rate went up to 60%. Similarly the Authority will undertake a cost 
benefit analysis for bulky waste such as fridge and settee removal. If the Authority 
is paying out more to collect fly-tipped material than it costs for the Authority to pick 
it up for free, the Authority needs to review this.

The Chief Executive commented that the session has been valuable and hopefully 
the task team suggested will be set up to work together, take forward some of the 
suggestions mentioned during the meeting, and also address some of the issues 
raised for example the issue of shopping trolleys. If the various organisations could 
work together for the benefit of the people of the County Borough, that’s what we 
need to do; and if enforcement is the last resort, unfortunately that is the way that 
the Authority will need to go.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this scrutiny report. Should the 
recommendations at 2.0 be accepted there will be financial implications but they will 
be subject to separate reports.

Page 23



6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the proposals positively impact on the following aspects of the 
Community Plan:

 People, who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil are supported to enjoy a healthier 
and better quality of life.

 People enjoy a vibrant, attractive, safe and sustainable place in which to live, 
work, play and visit. 

6.2 No negative impact has been identified by the Single Integrated Plan & 
Sustainability Impact Assessment.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  
The form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

Councillor Darren Roberts,
Chair of the Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

Task and Finish Group Membership: 
 Councillor Darren Roberts; 
 Councillor Sian Slater; and 
 Councillor Bill Smith

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 24



APPENDIX I

The following definitions of “Fly-tipping” and “Litter” have been used.

Fly-Tipping 2

 “Fly-tipping is illegal dumping of rubbish. This can vary in scale from bin bags, 
fridges and mattresses to large quantities of waste dumped from lorries and vans. It 
can be found anywhere - along roadsides, in lay-bys or on private land. 
Some facts about fly-tipping:
 Each year 42,000 tonnes of fly-tipping, the illegal dumping of waste, is 

reported in Wales
 Fly-tipping costs the Welsh tax payer more than £2.1 million to clear up
 Fly-tipping is a crime. If caught you could face fines of up to £50,000 or 

imprisonment
 Fly-tipping is a threat to humans and to wildlife
 Fly-tipping is a blight on our towns and countryside”

Litter 3 
“Litter includes: discarded paper; plastic items; materials associated with smoking, 
eating, drinking; chewing gum. Litter can also include material that is spilt during 
business operations or during waste management operations.

The main sources of litter are smoking related, confectionery related, drinks related 
and fast food. Most litter is discarded by the public. 

Litter is one of the most common forms of abuse people inflict on the environment 
of Wales. Litter is damaging for Wales’ local environment and wildlife, and has been 
shown to have significant negative implications for our economy through both 
tourism and inwards investment.

 Annual litter clean-up costs around £70 million in Wales which has to be 
met by taxpayers.

 You can be prosecuted for the Offence of Leaving Litter under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005. Magistrate’s Courts can fine up to £2,500 for Litter 
offences. 

 Local authorised officers working within the Local Authority or the Police can 
issue Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s). These can be set at a local level from 
£75 to £150. Their powers to issue FPN’s are contained in the Environment 
Protection Act 1990 and the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 
2005.”

2Source -  https://naturalresources.wales/waste/fly-tipping/?lang=en. Accessed 15th March 2016
3Source - http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/epq/cleanneighbour/litter1/?lang=en (accessed 15th March 2016)Page 25

https://naturalresources.wales/waste/fly-tipping/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/epq/cleanneighbour/litter1/?lang=en


APPENDIX II
Organisation / Individual / Councillor / 
Councillor Officer

Name(s)

3GS Craig Arnold (Operations Director 3GS) 

Big Heart of Merthyr Tydfil Business 
Improvement District

Antonia Pompa (BID Co-ordinator)

Fly-tipping Action Wales Gary Inight (Project Co-ordinator)
Apologies received

Gellideg Foundation Representative from Gellideg Foundation 

Groundwork Wales Kylie Bell (Manager)

Keep Wales Tidy Jemma Bere (Policy and Research Manager)
Jake Castle (Local Environmental Quality Officer)

Merthyr Tydfil Angling Association Gary Davies (Chairman) and Tony Rees

Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association (MTHA) Tim MacDermott  (Director of Operations)

Merthyr Valleys Homes (MVH) Michael Owen (Chief Executive)
Victoria Slade (Director of Housing) 

South Wales Fire and Rescue Mark Williams (Station Manager), Fire Crime Unit.

Wales & West Housing Association Robin Alldred (Commercial Manager)

Wildlife Trust Carys Solman (Wildlife Trust Officer)
Apologies received

Youth Offending Team – Merthyr Tydfil Christa Matthews plus a representative from the 
Youth Offending Community Reparation team

Brendan Toomey (Councillor) MTCBC – Leader of the Council

David Jones  (Councillor) MTCBC  - Cabinet Portfolio Member – 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection

Gareth Chapman MTCBC - Chief Executive

Ellis Cooper MTCBC – Corporate Director ( Place and 
Transformation)

Cheryllee Evans MTCBC - Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)

Carys Kennedy MTCBC - Head of Legal and Governance 
Services

Steve Peters MTCBC – Head of Public Protection and Housing

Justin Waite MTCBC – Group Leader (Policy & 
Implementation) Planning & Countryside

Simon Jones MTCBC – Senior SolicitorPage 26



Rolf Brown  MTCBC - Countryside Officer/Ecologist.

Paul Davies MTCBC - Waste Management Operations, 
Environmental Services

Jemma Rough MTCBC - Environmental Health Officer

Cheryl Jones MTCBC – Rights of Way Officer

Paul Jones MTCBC – Street Cleansing (Neighbourhood 
Services)

Rhian Prosser MTCBC - Town Centre Manager

Stephen Thomas MTCBC - Waste Management (Environmental 
Services)

Val Steele MTCBC - Waste Strategy Manager

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.2 in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 

and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?

Date Written 24th June 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 4th July 2016

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes?

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 30



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

3.3 Committees members will be aware that the Council has seven key priorities as per 
the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment.

The seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes, and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of these themes. The 4 
themes are:-

 Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning) 
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

 Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services)
Social Services Scrutiny Committee

 Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside)
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee

 Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection)
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 
have been developed and each reflects Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives.

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee work programme activity is aligned to the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny 
committees in this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page”.

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

Scrutiny Section
MTCBC

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 33



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 34



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 35



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 36



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Date / Timing Overarching 
Item

Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member

 

Scrutiny Focus 

Performance Cllr PW/ 
SP/Cllr DJ

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge.4th July 2016

Scrutiny 
report

Update from 
Chair of 

Committee

Feedback: - The Scrutiny Report “Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County 
Borough” was presented to Cabinet on 15th June. The Chair is to provide feedback on the Cabinet 
meeting and Cabinets decision(s)

Fly-tipping / 
Litter

EC / CE / Cllr 
DJ / Appropriate 

Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge: - See report “Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County 
Borough” agended at Cabinet on 15th June. Recommendation:- A report is presented to the 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee within 3 months of this report 
being considered by Cabinet, on the progress of the Strategic Group, and also on progress in 
dealing with the fly-tipping and litter issues in the County Borough

Recycling / 
landfill 

Published & 
Verified Data 
(August 2016)

EC/ CE / Cllr DJ 
and 

appropriate 
Officer

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Recycling / Landfill performance data will have been published in 
August. A report to scrutiny providing details of the figures.

26th September 2016

Performance As advised by 
Performance 

Dept

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge.

7th November 2016

Key 
Transformation 
Budget Projects 
2016/17

CLE + various, 
Cllr DJ

Monitoring & Scrutiny : An update on key significant transformation budget projects for 2016/17
 an update on Highways and Engineering

P
age 37



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Performance 
of Leisure 

Trust

Richard March 
/ MT/JS

Scrutiny & Challenge: - One of the Councils 7 Priority Areas as per the Corporate Plan is “Active 
Lifestyles” - By 2017, we want to see a sustained increase in the participation of physical activity 
from all residents in Merthyr Tydfil, and a contribution to improved health and well-being.

In the Summary of the WAO Improvement Assessment 2015/16 Performance Assessment (Waste 
and Active Lifestyles (June 2016) they comment that “The Council is making progress on its 
planned improvements in waste services, and performance in its active lifestyles priority area is 
mixed but there are weaknesses in the Council’s performance information in these areas.”

As the Leisure Trust is a key contributor towards our key priority, performance has dipped in the 
last 12 months and as such the Trust to give an update on performance and their efforts to 
improve performance. This item follows on from performance item on Active Lifestyles on 26th 
September.

Performance As advised by 
Performance 

Dept

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Service Performance Report – Regulatory (Public Protection). An update on 
progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.
*Appendix = Performance Board update.  A synopsis from Performance Board

Crime and 
Disorder

SP/Cllr DJ and 
appropriate 

officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  There have been significant changes following the demise of the 
Local Service Board and the introduction of the Joint Cwmtaf Public Service Board. The 
Committee requires a report on progress in order that it can resume scrutiny of the work 
of the community safety partners.

The terms of reference of the committee are to scrutinise the work of the community 
safety partners insofar as their activities relate to the community safety activities of; 
substance misuse; anti-social behaviour; offender management; community cohesion; 
domestic abuse & sexual violence; and counter terrorism & extremism.

The role of the committee in whichever form it is applied should be as a ‘critical friend’ of 
the Community Safety agencies, providing it with constructive challenge at a strategic level 
rather than adversarial fault-finding at an operational level.

19th December 2016

Trust 
Performance

RM and 
appropriate 

persons

Monitoring & Scrutiny: A 6 monthly update on progress and performance in achieving the 
stated targets and outcomes for the Trust. 

P
age 38



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Performance Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

Fly-tipping / 
Litter

GC/EC/Cllr 
BT/Cllr DJ and 
appropriate 

Officers 
Attendees as 
per 11th April 

2016

Scrutiny & Challenge: - See report “Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the 
County Borough” agended at Cabinet on 15th June. Recommendation - A follow up 
meeting (similar to the scrutiny meeting on 11th April 2016) be scheduled by the 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee on its work 
programme early next year. This will be a workshop/state of the union-style meeting 

Crime and 
Disorder

SP/JP & Partner 
Agencies

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Community Safety. Bring in representatives of the partnership and 
questioning them about their roles, responsibilities, and activities. 30th January 2017

Performance As advised by 
Performance 

Dept

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Service Performance Report (Public Protection). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

Energy 
Efficiency

CLE & Cllr DJ 
/ MC

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Sustainable Environment.  Outline of the Carbon Reduction 
strategy and plan for energy efficiency.

13th March 2017

Performance Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

P
age 39



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

24th April 2017

Performance Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Service Performance Report (Public Protection).  An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

Additional items to 
consider for Work 
programme

P
age 40


	Agenda
	3 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 7  - A Sustainable Environment
	4 Scrutiny Report - Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County Borough
	7 Forward Work Programme
	strategies on a page
	Neighbourhood Services descriptors 2016 17


